July 1, 2014

Mr. William Hammink
Mission Director for Afghanistan
U.S. Agency for International Development

Dear Mr. Hammink:

Thank you for your responses to my two inquiry letters regarding the 19 contractst USAID has
terminated in Afghanistan since 2008.2 We have completed an initial review of the information
provided by USAID and will be sharing this information with SIGAR’s Investigations and Audits
Directorates for further analysis. However, please allow me to share some preliminary observations:

e Overall Cost: There are at least seven terminated contracts identified in your responses for
which USAID has yet to reach a settlement agreement. Therefore, as USAID reaches
settlement agreements concerning these contracts, the $237 million your office identified as
the amount disbursed by USAID for terminated contracts may increase.3 We suggest USAID
factor in those likely cost increases as it schedules and prioritizes its financial audits as part
of the contract closeout process.4

o Termination for Default vs. Termination for Convenience: We noted that 18 of the contracts
identified in your April 15, 2014 response letter were terminated for the convenience of
USAID, and that none of the contracts were terminated for default5. USAID’s responses
suggest that termination for default was considered in at least two instances. We
understand that terminating a contract for default can lead to litigation and that an agency’s
decision making can come under intense scrutiny when it asserts that a contractor has failed
to meet its obligations. However, we are concerned that if avoiding these challenges
becomes the standard approach to contracting in Afghanistan, it may lead to poorly
performing contractors being unduly compensated for substandard work. Therefore, as a
preliminary matter, SIGAR suggests that USAID assess its current process for terminating
contacts, so as to safeguard against the reflexive use of terminations for convenience in
situations where a termination for default would be warranted.

1 SIGAR’s inquiry letter of March 25, 2014, asked for information concerning all of USAID’s terminated contracts, grants and cooperative
agreements related to Afghanistan reconstruction. USAID’s response letter of April 15, 2014 only refers to terminated contracts.

2 See Attachments | - IV.
3 See Attachment I.

4 In April 2012 we noted that there has been a significant backlog in these financial audits and made recommendations to USAID to
alleviate this backlog by providing additional funding and by altering the system to identify, prioritize, and expedite specific audits. See
SIGAR Audit-12-9, USAID Has Disbursed $9.5 Billion for Reconstruction and Funded Some Financial Audits as required, but Many Audits
Face Significant Delays, Accountability Limitations, and Lack of Resources, April 30, 2012.

5 One contract (306-1L—10-04-01) was to be canceled because the Ministry of Finance/Independent Directorate for Local Governance
could not demonstrate substantial capacity to track and disburse funds to sub-national governance agencies outside of Kabul.
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o Direct Bilateral Assistance and Public Financial Management Risk Assessment Framework
(PFMRAF): U.S. direct bilateral assistance to Afghanistan should be predicated, at the very
least, on the recipient meeting U.S. government qualifying standards for eligibility. USAID’s
operational policy requires that “...USAID Missions must conduct PFMRAF assessments of
any new/potential partner country government implementing entities...”¢ USAID terminated
two contracts for pre-award assessment of Afghan government entities—the Supreme Court
and Ministry of Counter Narcotics.” USAID canceled the contracts before any costs were
incurred. The annexes provided by USAID for the cancelation of both risk assessment
contracts state that these Afghan government entities were “unwilling to cooperate with the
contractor”® undertaking the assessment.® With the cancelation of the assessments, the
Supreme Court and Ministry of Counter Narcotics were rendered ineligible to receive direct
bilateral assistance. We agree with USAID’s actions as presented in your April 15, 2014 letter
and continue to believe that USAID should require compliance with ADS 22010 prior to
providing direct bilateral assistance to Afghan government entities.

e Pre-award Planning: In some cases, USAID’s termination of a contract seems to relate to
inefficient or ineffective pre-award planning or activities. For example, USAID notes that it's
Watershed Restoration Program in Ghor province duplicated or overlapped with another
project with the same implementing partner. While it appears that USAID later discovered the
problem and attempted to correct it by combing the two contracts with the same
implementing partner into a single contract, we question why an initial amendment or
expansion of the contract was not explored as opposed to awarding a second contract.
Security concerns were also cited in a number of canceled contracts. We are concerned that
USAID’s project planning may not be adequately taking into account the size, scope, and
sustainability of projects undertaken in areas of Afghanistan with known security concerns.
We suggest that USAID conduct a thorough examination of projects that were consolidated
with other projects or canceled due to security concerns, because they may provide valuable
lessons learned for future projects.

6 USAID, Automated Directive System (ADS) 220, ADS 220.3.2.2, pg 16.
7 In both cases the assessments were begun prior to ADS 220 being finalized.

8 USAID Annex 10 “Pre-award Assessment of Supreme Court” and USAID Annex 12 “Pre-award Assessment of Ministry of Counter
Narcotics”.

9 USAID’s April 15, 2014 letter in response to SIGAR’s inquiry states both projects had extenuating circumstances including security, lack
of staff coordination, and confidentiality concerns, although no extenuating circumstances are listed in either annex.

10 SIGAR 14-32 Audit Report, Direct Assistance: USAID Has Taken Positive Action to Assess Afghan Ministries’ Ability to Manage Donor
Funds, but Concerns Remain, January 2014.
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| am submitting this request pursuant to my authority under Public Law No. 110-181, as amended,
and the Inspector General Act of 1978, as amended. SIGAR has no further questions or requests for
information at this time. No further response from USAID is required. Should you have any questions

or need additional information, please contact Jack Mitchell, Director of Special Projects, at

. I

Sincerely,

John F. Sopko
Special Inspector General
for Afghanistan Reconstruction

Enclosure(s):

| - USAID Response to SIGAR-14-44-SP, dated April 15, 2014

Il - SIGAR-14-44-SP Inquiry Letter: Canceled USAID Contracts, dated March 25, 2014

[l - USAID Response to SIGAR, dated December 15, 2013

IV - Initial Inquiry Letter to USAID Regarding Canceled Contracts, dated November 15, 2013
V - USAID Mission Director Open Letter to the Los Angeles Times, dated November 3, 2013
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ENCLOSURE I: USAID RESPONSE TO SIGAR-14-44-SP, DATED APRIL
15, 2014
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ENCLOSURE II: SIGAR-14-44-SP INQUIRY LETTER: CANCELED USAID
CONTRACTS, DATED MARCH 25, 2014
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ENCLOSURE IlI: USAID RESPONSE TO SIGAR, DATED DECEMBER 15,
2013
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ENCLOSURE IV: INITIAL INQUIRY LETTER TO USAID REGARDING
CANCELED CONTRACTS, DATED NOVEMBER 15, 2013
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ENCLOSURE V: USAID MISSION DIRECTOR OPEN LETTER TO THE LOS
ANGELES TIMES, DATED NOVEMBER 3, 2013

Letters: USAID in Afghanistantt
November 03, 2013
Los Angeles Times

Re "Afghan projects may lose oversight," Oct. 30

The article overlooks Afghanistan's development progress as it breezes over USAID's rigorous
oversight of our projects worldwide.

In the last 10 years, Afghans have seen a 20-year increase in life expectancy and a 62% decrease in
child mortality. A decade ago, female education was banned in Afghanistan. Now, almost 3 million
girls attend school.

Americans can be proud of their contribution to those achievements.

Furthermore, allegations of widespread waste and mismanagement are unfounded. Where USAID
has identified instances of waste and project mismanagement in Afghanistan, we have terminated
contracts and projects.

Our multi-tiered approach to monitoring development projects ensures that our rigorous oversight
standards will continue to be upheld in the future.

William Hammink
Kabul, Afghanistan

The writer is USAID's mission director in Afghanistan.

11 http://articles.latimes.com/2013/nov/03/opinion/la-le-1103-sunday-usaid-afghanistan-20131103
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